

United States Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Requesters

September 2015

DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY

Transactions Involving USEC Inc. Since 1998

GAO Highlights

Highlights of GAO-15-730, a report to congressional requesters

Why GAO Did This Study

DOE has had a long and complex relationship with USEC Inc. and its successor, Centrus Energy Corp. Until 2013, USEC, a government corporation that was privatized in 1998. was the only company enriching uranium that, according to DOE, could meet DOE's LEU needs for tritium production. However, USEC ceased enrichment operations in May 2013, and the future of its planned nextgeneration American Centrifuge enrichment facility is uncertain. GAO has previously reported on financial and other transactions involving DOE and USEC, including transactions that involved the transfer of uranium.

GAO was asked to report on the history of the financial relationship between DOE and USEC. This report (1) identifies transactions involving DOE and USEC since USEC was privatized and (2) describes the costs and benefits, if any, of these transactions to DOE, as identified by DOE. GAO defines a transaction as a contract or agreement providing for an exchange of monetary payments, uranium of any type, or services between or involving DOE and USEC occurring from USEC's privatization on July 28, 1998, through July 1, 2015. GAO analyzed key DOE and USEC documents and interviewed DOE and Centrus Energy Corp. officials.

What GAO Recommends

GAO is not making recommendations in this report. DOE reviewed a draft of this report and provided technical comments that GAO incorporated as appropriate.

View GAO-15-730. For more information, contact David C. Trimble at (202) 512-3841 or trimbled@gao.gov.

DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY

Transactions Involving USEC Inc. Since 1998

What GAO Found

The Department of Energy (DOE) has engaged with USEC Inc. (USEC) in 23 transactions since USEC was privatized in 1998 through July 1, 2015. The 23 transactions fall into the following six categories:

- Establishment of USEC. DOE engaged with USEC in 3 transactions to help establish the company as a private company. For example, from 1998 to 2003, DOE transferred enriched uranium, as required by the USEC Privatization Act, to USEC to establish commercial value for USEC.
- National security. DOE engaged with USEC in 6 transactions for national security purposes. For example, DOE engaged in several transactions to secure domestic low-enriched uranium (LEU), used in nuclear reactors, for the production of tritium—a radioactive isotope of hydrogen used to enhance the power of nuclear weapons—and support the development of USEC's next-generation American Centrifuge uranium enrichment technology.
- Facilities management. DOE engaged with USEC in 5 transactions regarding the operation and management of various facilities. For example, after USEC ceased enrichment operations at the Portsmouth Gaseous Diffusion Plant (GDP)—which it leased from DOE—DOE contracted with USEC from 2001 to 2011 to maintain the facility in a dormant condition and prepare it for future decontamination and decommissioning.
- Nuclear materials management and security. DOE engaged with USEC in 3 transactions to support nuclear materials management. For instance, in a transaction beginning in 1999, DOE agreed to pay USEC to provide safeguards and security services for highly enriched uranium (HEU), which is used in nuclear weapons, that DOE stored at the Portsmouth GDP.
- Issues from prior transactions. DOE engaged with USEC in 3 transactions to address issues with previous transfers of uranium. For example, in 2003, DOE transferred HEU to USEC to replace previously transferred material that turned out to be contaminated and that did not conform to industry standards.
- **Other.** In 2 other transactions, USEC and its subsidiaries paid a fee for access to DOE restricted data related to the centrifuge technology. A third transaction involved a pilot project to determine the usability of certain uranium as nuclear fuel.

DOE identified various monetary and nonmonetary costs and benefits of the 23 transactions. DOE was able to identify the costs and benefits for most transactions that have occurred since 2005. For these transactions, DOE incurred costs through the transfer of appropriated funds and various types of uranium, as well as acceptance of responsibility for the future disposition of certain uranium. The benefits DOE received include monetary payments, LEU, and nonmonetary national security benefits. For transactions that occurred or began occurring prior to 2005, DOE was not always able to provide definitive information on its costs and benefits, in part because the agency's accounting system changed in 2004, and agency officials were not able to access information on certain transactions occurring prior to that time.

Contents

Letter		1
	Background	5
	Since 1998, DOE and USEC Have Been Involved in 23	10
	DOE Identified Various Costs and Benefits of Some of the	12
	Transactions	18
	Agency Comments and Our Evaluation	19
Appendix I	Objectives, Scope, and Methodology	20
Appendix II	Information from Department of Energy on Its Transactions Involving	
	USEC Inc. or Centrus Energy Corp. since 1998	22
Appendix III	Department of Energy Transactions Involving USEC Inc. or Centrus	
	Energy Corp. by Category	55
Appendix IV	Example of Standard Question Set Provided to Department of Energy	/
	Officials on Each Transaction	56
Appendix V	GAO Contact and Staff Acknowledgments	58
Tables		
	Table 1: Types of Uranium	6
	Table 2: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified	
	Costs and Benefits for the Lease of the Portsmouth and Paducab Gaseous Diffusion Plants (GDP)	23
	Table 3: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified	20
	Costs and Benefits for Transfer of Highly Enriched	
	Uranium (HEU) Table 4: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE) Identified	26
	Costs and Benefits for Amendment to a Previous Highly	
	Enriched Uranium (HEU) Transfer	27

Table 5: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified Costs and Benefits for Worker Transition Services	28
Table 6: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified	
Costs and Benefits for Depleted Uranium Tails Liability	
Acceptance	29
Table 7: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified	
Costs and Benefits for Highly Enriched Uranium (HEU)	
Safeguards and Security Services	30
Table 8: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified	
Costs and Benefits for Storage of Uranium Enriched to	
10% or Greater Assay	31
Table 9: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified	
Costs and Benefits for Atomic Vapor Laser Isotope	
Separation (AVLIS) Termination	32
Table 10: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified	
Costs and Benefits for Permit for USEC Access to	
Restricted Data	34
Table 11: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified	
Costs and Benefits for Cooperative Research and	
Development Agreement (CRADA)	35
Table 12: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified	
Costs and Benefits for Portsmouth Gaseous Diffusion	
Plant (GDP) Closure	36
Table 13: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified	
Costs and Benefits for Uranium Decontamination and	
Replacement	38
Table 14 ⁻ Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified	
Costs and Benefits for Lease for Centrifuge Production	
and Testing Facilities	41
Table 15: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified	
Costs and Benefits for Highly Enriched Uranium (HEU)	
Transfer to Replace Previously Transferred HEU	42
Table 16: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified	72
Costs and Benefits for Lease for American Centrifuge	
Lead Cascade Eacilities	13
Table 17: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE) Identified	
Costs and Reposits for the Depleted Uranium Tails Pilot	
Project	11
Table 18: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE) Identified	44
Costs and Benefits for Nuclear Materials Management	
and Safaquarda System (NIMMSS) Management Contract	16
	40

Table 19: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified	
Costs and Benefits for Depleted Uranium Tails Liability	
Acceptance 48	.8
Table 20: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified	
Costs and Benefits for Permit for USEC Subsidiaries	
Access to Restricted Data 49	.9
Table 21: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified	
Costs and Benefits for Separative Work Unit Procurement 50	0
Table 22: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified	
Costs and Benefits for the Depleted Uranium Enrichment	
Project 5 ^r	i1
Table 23: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified	
Costs and Benefits for the Research, Development and	
Demonstration Cooperative Agreement 53	3
Table 24: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified	
Costs and Benefits for Agreement between UT-Battelle	
and USEC 54	j 4

Figures

7
16
40

Abbreviations

AVLIS	atomic vapor laser isotope separation
Centrus	Centrus Energy Corp.
CRADA	Cooperative Research and Development Agreement
DOE	Department of Energy
GDP	gaseous diffusion plant
HEU	highly enriched uranium
LEU	low-enriched uranium
MTU	metric tons of uranium
NAC	NAC International Inc.
NMMSS	Nuclear Materials Management and Safeguards System
NRC	Nuclear Regulatory Commission
SWU	separative work unit
USEC	USEC Inc.

This is a work of the U.S. government and is not subject to copyright protection in the United States. The published product may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without further permission from GAO. However, because this work may contain copyrighted images or other material, permission from the copyright holder may be necessary if you wish to reproduce this material separately.

U.S. GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILITY OFFICE

441 G St. N.W. Washington, DC 20548

September 10, 2015

The Honorable Edward J. Markey United States Senate

The Honorable Michael C. Burgess House of Representatives

The Department of Energy (DOE) has had a long and complex relationship with USEC Inc. (USEC) and its successor, Centrus Energy Corp. (Centrus), which has been the only company to enrich uranium with U.S. technology.¹ In the 1940s, the federal government began providing uranium enrichment services—first for national security purposes and later for the emerging commercial nuclear power industry—using government-owned gaseous diffusion plants (GDP).² In 1992, United States Enrichment Corporation was established as a government corporation to, among other things, provide these services and to take over operations of DOE's two operating GDPs in Portsmouth, Ohio, and Paducah, Kentucky. In 1998, the corporation was privatized under the USEC Privatization Act and became a subsidiary of the newly created USEC Inc.³ From 1998 until 2013, DOE relied exclusively on USEC to obtain enrichment services for the production of low-enriched uranium (LEU) needed to produce tritium, a radioactive isotope of hydrogen used

¹To be transformed into a form that can be used to fuel nuclear reactors, uranium ore goes through a number of steps including mining, conversion, and enrichment. Enrichment is the process of separating uranium-235—the form, or isotope, that undergoes fission to release energy in nuclear reactors and weapons—from uranium-238 to increase the concentration of uranium-235.

²To enrich uranium, DOE and its predecessors operated three GDPs in Tennessee, Ohio, and Kentucky. DOE ceased operating its GDP in Oak Ridge, Tennessee, in 1985 as a result of decreased demand for enrichment services. The gaseous diffusion process involves the passage of uranium hexafluoride in a gaseous form through a series of filters. Because uranium-235 is lighter, it passes through the filters more readily than uranium-238, resulting in gaseous uranium that is enriched in uranium-235—the fissionable isotope.

³USEC Privatization Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2297h-2297h-13 (2015). The privatization was accomplished by an initial public offering on July 28, 1998. With the creation of USEC Inc., United States Enrichment Corporation ceased to exist as a government corporation. In September 2014, USEC Inc. changed its name to Centrus Energy Corp.

to enhance the power of U.S. nuclear weapons, and DOE has contracted with USEC for a variety of related services.⁴ However, USEC ceased enrichment operations at the Portsmouth and Paducah GDPs in 2001 and 2013, respectively, citing high production costs due to the use of energyintensive enrichment technology.

Since 2002, USEC has been developing next-generation enrichment technology—called the American Centrifuge—which has been demonstrated by USEC to be significantly less energy intensive than USEC's World War II-era gaseous diffusion technology.⁵ If successfully commercially deployed, the American Centrifuge technology would again establish a commercial uranium enrichment capability based on U.S. technology, which, according to DOE, is necessary to obtain LEU to meet U.S. national security needs for tritium production. However, the future of the American Centrifuge is in question. USEC filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection in March 2014, citing the need to restructure its convertible notes that were issued to finance the American Centrifuge plant and other corporate needs. In September 2014, it emerged from bankruptcy and changed its name to Centrus Energy Corp.⁶ As of July 2015, the company was not enriching uranium either commercially or for national security purposes and, therefore, DOE no longer has an assured

⁴An assured source of tritium is necessary to maintain the U.S. nuclear weapons stockpile. However, tritium has a relatively short half-life of 12 years and decays at a rate of about 5.5 percent per year. As long as the United States relies on nuclear weapons, DOE requires a continuous supply of LEU to produce tritium. Tritium is produced as a by-product in nuclear reactors fueled by LEU, and DOE's National Nuclear Security Administration supports a program that produces tritium as a primary product to collect enough tritium to meet stockpile demands.

⁵For the potential commercialization of the American Centrifuge technology, USEC applied for a \$2 billion loan guarantee for U.S. government guaranteed debt financing both in 2008 and 2010 under DOE's Loan Guarantee Program. DOE deferred USEC's applications in 2009 and 2011, citing financial and technical concerns.

⁶On September 5, 2014, the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware approved USEC's plans for reorganization. At that time, USEC announced that it planned to emerge from Chapter 11 reorganization under the name Centrus Energy Corp. On September 30, 2014, Centrus Energy Corp. announced that it had satisfied all conditions set forth in its Plan for Reorganization and that it was emerging in a stronger position to support the energy and national security needs of the United States. For the purposes of this report, we will refer to the company as United States Enrichment Corporation when discussing events prior to privatization, USEC Inc. (USEC) when discussing events between privatization and September 2014, and we will refer to the company as Centrus Energy Corp. (Centrus) when discussing events after September 2014.

source of LEU enriched with U.S. technology for tritium production.⁷ In April 2014, the Secretary of Energy tasked DOE's Oak Ridge National Laboratory with maintaining the operability of the American Centrifuge technology.⁸ The following month, USEC signed a 17-month contract with UT-Battelle, which manages and operates Oak Ridge National Laboratory, to carry out this task. In the interim, DOE is assessing options for meeting national security needs for enriched uranium and is preserving the option of commercial deployment of the American Centrifuge technology.

We have previously reported on financial and other transactions involving DOE and USEC, which have continued to have a relationship since the company was privatized. For example, in June 2006, we found that USEC had invoiced DOE for about \$152 million to decontaminate uranium under several separate agreements.⁹ In September 2011, we found that DOE released natural uranium valued at about \$194 million in return for cleanup work done by USEC at the Portsmouth GDP to prepare the facility for eventual decontamination and decommissioning.¹⁰ In addition, in May 2014, we found that, from March 2012 to April 2014, DOE and USEC were involved in a dozen transfers of funding and uranium, which were largely intended to support USEC's research, development, and demonstration of the American Centrifuge technology.¹¹ For 10 of these 12 transfers, DOE provided about \$280 million to USEC—including eight

⁸DOE has an irrevocable, nonexclusive, royalty-free license, for use by or on behalf of the United States, for all centrifuge intellectual property for government purposes.

⁹GAO, U.S. Enrichment Corporation Privatization: USEC's Delays in Providing Data Hinder DOE's Oversight of the Uranium Decontamination Agreement, GAO-06-723 (Washington, D.C.: June 16, 2006).

¹⁰GAO, Excess Uranium Inventories: Clarifying DOE's Disposition Options Could Help Avoid Further Legal Violations, GAO-11-846 (Washington, D.C.: Sept. 26, 2011).

¹¹GAO, Department of Energy: Enhanced Transparency Could Clarify Costs, Market Impact, Risk, and Legal Authority to Conduct Future Uranium Transactions, GAO-14-291 (Washington, D.C.: May 9, 2014).

⁷We found in October 2014 that DOE had interpreted certain international agreements to require the use of U.S.-developed enrichment technology for any uranium used for U.S. military purposes, including uranium ultimately used to produce tritium. LEU is considered unobligated when neither the uranium nor the technology used to enrich it carries an "obligation" to a foreign country, including an obligation requiring that the material only be used for peaceful purposes. See GAO, *Department of Energy: Interagency Review Needed to Update U.S. Position on Enriched Uranium That Can Be Used for Tritium Production*, GAO-15-123 (Washington, D.C.: Oct. 14, 2014).

monetary payments of about \$148 million and two transfers of uranium valued at \$132 million.

In light of Centrus' emergence from bankruptcy and the potential for a continued relationship between DOE and Centrus, you asked us to report on the history of the financial relationship between the two entities.¹² This report (1) identifies transactions involving DOE and USEC since USEC was privatized in 1998 and (2) describes the costs and benefits, if any, of these transactions to DOE, as identified by DOE.

For the purpose of our review, we define a transaction as a contract or agreement providing for an exchange of monetary payments, uranium of any type, or services between or involving DOE and USEC. We included in our scope any transactions that occurred between USEC's privatization on July 28, 1998, and the present (July 1, 2015), as well as transactions that commenced before July 28, 1998, but that continued to be executed after USEC was privatized. We excluded interactions involving DOE and USEC if no exchange of monetary payment, uranium, or services occurred.

To conduct this work, we reviewed and analyzed documents to identify these transactions and to obtain information on the type, purpose, costs, and benefits of the transactions. These documents included DOE's annual budget justification materials, USEC's corporate filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, contracts and agreements between DOE and USEC, and prior GAO reports. Once we identified a preliminary list of transactions, we asked DOE to review the list. DOE amended the list and provided documentation for additional transactions to be included. Based on our analysis of DOE documents, and through interviews with DOE officials, we then added and consolidated certain transactions and removed others that were inconsistent with our definition and ultimately developed a final list of 23 transactions.¹³ We also interviewed Centrus officials and provided them an opportunity to review

¹²This request was originally made by the Ranking Member of the House Committee on Natural Resources, Representative Edward J. Markey, who is now a member of the Senate, and Representative Michael C. Burgess.

¹³Some transactions we reviewed involved multiple steps or were based on several agreements between DOE and USEC. The total number of transactions involving DOE and USEC could be added differently, depending on whether related contractual agreements between DOE and USEC are consolidated or separated.

	and confirm the final list of transactions, and they concurred with the list. For the purpose of this review, we are reporting the costs and benefits that DOE provided us. To assess the reliability of the costs and benefits that DOE identified for each transaction, we requested and reviewed relevant documentation to corroborate DOE-reported costs and benefits, including contracts, memorandums of agreement, and lease agreements and found the information we are reporting on DOE-identified costs and benefits sufficiently reliable for the purposes of this review. Appendix I describes our objectives, scope, and methodology in more detail.
	We conducted this performance audit from November 2014 to September 2015 in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives.
Background	This section describes nuclear fuel production and uranium enrichment, DOE's and USEC's involvement in uranium enrichment, and cleanup of uranium enrichment plants.
Nuclear Fuel Production and Uranium Enrichment	Uranium enrichment is the process of raising the concentration of uranium-235, which is the isotope of uranium that undergoes fission to release enormous amounts of energy. Uranium is categorized by its concentration of uranium-235, expressed as a percentage of weight or "assay" level. DOE categorizes uranium in five general types, each of which is characterized by a different assay level and has different uses (see table 1).

Table 1: Types of Uranium

	Assay level of	
Туре	uranium-235	Description
Low-assay depleted uranium tails	Less than 0.34%	Tails are a product of the enrichment process. Tails consist of uranium hexafluoride containing fewer isotopes of uranium-235 than occur in natural uranium. Some low-assay tails are not considered economical to re-enrich.
High-assay depleted uranium tails	0.34% - 0.7%	In some cases, it may be profitable to re-enrich "high-assay" tails with assays greater than 0.34%. All tails regardless of assay are radioactive and hazardous to human health and the environment. Tails may be safely stored for years but eventually require stabilization and disposal.
Natural uranium	0.7%	Natural uranium is mined from the earth and contains 0.7% of the uranium-235 isotope. The remaining 99.3% is mostly the uranium-238 isotope. Natural uranium may be used for fuel in certain foreign nuclear reactor designs; otherwise, it is enriched for the uses described for low-enriched uranium and highly enriched uranium.
Low-enriched uranium (LEU)	More than 0.7% - 20%	LEU is used in commercial reactors at assay levels generally between 3% and 5%. Research, isotope production, and test reactors may use low-enriched uranium at assay levels between 12% and 19.75%. DOE also needs LEU for the production of tritium.
Highly enriched uranium (HEU)	More than 20%	HEU is used in the construction of nuclear weapons, for naval reactors, and for some research reactors. Weapons grade HEU generally has an assay level of at least 90%. HEU can be downblended by mixing it with either depleted or natural uranium, or LEU, to convert it into a new product that is less than 20% uranium-235.

Sources: GAO analysis of documents from DOE, Nuclear Regulatory Commission, and USEC Inc. | GAO-15-730

Uranium undergoes a number of processing steps to produce LEU nuclear fuel, beginning with the mining of uranium ore and ending with the fabrication of LEU fuel for nuclear reactors (see fig. 1). The uranium enrichment stage falls approximately in the middle of the nuclear fuel cycle.





Sources: GAO analysis of International Atomic Energy Agency, Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Congressional Research Service, Department of Energy, and TVA documents. | GAO-15-730

Note: The Tennessee Valley Authority produces tritium through an interagency agreement with DOE.

As can be seen in figure 1, the enrichment process results in two principal products: (1) enriched uranium hexafluoride and (2) leftover "tails" of uranium hexafluoride. These tails are also known as depleted uranium because the material is depleted in uranium-235 compared with natural uranium. Tails are generally considered an environmental liability. The Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) requires uranium enrichment facility operators to provide financial assurance that funds will be

	available when needed for the disposition of depleted uranium. ¹⁴ To meet these NRC requirements, USEC has used surety bonds—which guarantee payment for the tails disposition costs by a third party, among other things, in the event that USEC defaults on such obligations—to guarantee the disposition of its depleted uranium and stored wastes.
	LEU resulting from the enrichment process is valued based on two components: (1) the value of the feed component, which is generally natural uranium in the form of uranium hexafluoride, and (2) the value of the enrichment component, or separative work units (SWU), which is the industry standard for the measure of effort needed to transform a given amount of natural uranium into LEU.
DOE's and USEC's Involvement in Uranium Enrichment	According to DOE, the United States needs an assured source of tritium to maintain the U.S. nuclear weapons stockpile. In October 2014, we reported on DOE's practice of using only unobligated LEU to meet national security needs for tritium. ¹⁵ To produce tritium, DOE has stated that it can only use unobligated LEU. LEU is considered to be unobligated when neither the uranium nor the technology used to enrich it carries an "obligation" from a foreign country regarding its use, such as a requirement that the material only be used for peaceful purposes. These obligations are contained in international agreements to which the United States is a party.
	In the 1940s, DOE and its predecessor agencies began operating government-owned uranium enrichment plants first to meet national security needs for enriched uranium and later for use as fuel in commercial nuclear reactors. In 1992, United States Enrichment Corporation was established as a government corporation to, among other things, provide uranium enrichment services for the U.S. government and utilities that operate nuclear power plants and to take over operations of DOE's two GDPs in Portsmouth, Ohio, and Paducah,

¹⁴NRC is the federal agency that regulates, among other things, the civilian uses of nuclear materials in the United States.

¹⁵See GAO-15-123.

Kentucky.¹⁶ Then, in 1996, the USEC Privatization Act authorized the government corporation's sale to the private sector.¹⁷ Two years later, the government corporation was privatized through an initial public offering on July 28, 1998, which resulted in proceeds to the U.S. government of nearly \$1.9 billion.¹⁸ Through privatization, United States Enrichment Corporation became a subsidiary of the new private company USEC Inc. USEC Inc. then changed its name to Centrus Energy Corp after it emerged from bankruptcy in September 2014.¹⁹ Today, United States Enrichment Corporation continues to be a subsidiary of Centrus.

The Energy Policy Act of 1992 required the President to transfer to United States Enrichment Corporation, at its request, any intellectual and physical property related to a type of next-generation uranium enrichment technology called atomic vapor laser isotope separation (AVLIS). In 1973, Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory began conducting research on AVLIS—a technology that uses laser light to separate from natural uranium the specific uranium atoms needed to sustain nuclear reactions. Prior to transferring the technology to United States Enrichment Corporation in 1995 for further research and development and for eventual commercialization, DOE spent more than \$1.7 billion developing the technology, which, according to USEC, was expected to use significantly less electricity than gaseous diffusion technology. In June 1999, USEC announced that it was suspending further development on AVLIS technology—on which it had spent over \$100 million since the company was privatized—and would instead focus on developing other

¹⁶Pursuant to the Energy Policy Act of 1992, DOE and United States Enrichment Corporation signed a 6-year lease for the use of these two GDPs with an open-ended renewal option. The lease was transferred to USEC Inc. in 1998 at the time of privatization, as required by the USEC Privatization Act.

¹⁷USEC Privatization Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2297h-2297h-13 (2015).

¹⁸The proceeds consisted of nearly \$1.4 billion from the sale of USEC stock, and \$500 million borrowed by USEC and paid to the government. In addition, the United States retained about \$1.2 billion in cash from the government corporation's account at the U.S. Treasury, known as the U.S. Enrichment Corporation Fund.

¹⁹USEC filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection in March 2014 in order to strengthen its balance sheet and replace notes maturing in October 2014 with equity and new notes maturing in 5 years and extendable to 10 years. On September 5, 2014, the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware approved USEC's Plan for Reorganization. On September 30, 2014, Centrus announced that it had satisfied all conditions set forth in its Plan for Reorganization.

	commercially viable enrichment technologies. According to USEC's 1999 Annual Report, USEC determined that the returns from AVLIS would not be sufficient to outweigh the risks and costs of further development, and centrifuge technology was a well-established enrichment process. ²⁰ In 2002, DOE and USEC signed an agreement that committed USEC to pursue the development of gas centrifuge technology. This technology, which is now known as American Centrifuge, is based on gas centrifuge technology originally developed by DOE from the 1960s to the 1980s, after which DOE suspended development, in part due to budget constraints. According to USEC documents, the American Centrifuge technology would be significantly less energy intensive and more cost- efficient than the gaseous diffusion process used in the Portsmouth and Paducah GDPs. Subsequently, in 2004, USEC announced its selection of the Portsmouth plant as the future home of the American Centrifuge Plant—the facility where the American Centrifuge technology would be deployed—and received a license to operate the plant from NRC in 2007. DOE and USEC signed a cooperative agreement in 2012 to share the cost of supporting a research, development, and demonstration program for the American Centrifuge technology. According to USEC, the program ended in April 2014 and achieved all of its technical milestones on time and within budget. In May 2014, USEC and UT-Battelle—the management and operating contractor of DOE's Oak Ridge National Laboratory—signed an agreement to maintain the capability of the American Centrifuge technology.
Cleanup of Uranium Enrichment Plants	In accordance with the USEC Privatization Act, the government is responsible for all costs incurred by the uranium enrichment program before July 1, 1993, when United States Enrichment Corporation began operating the two GDPs. Due to decreased demand for enrichment services and high costs of operating the GDPs, USEC ceased enrichment operations at the Portsmouth GDP in 2001 and at the Paducah GDP in 2013. These plants, as well as the Oak Ridge GDP (now known as the

²⁰Gas centrifuge technology employs rapidly spinning cylinders containing uranium hexafluoride to separate the fissionable uranium-235 from the nonfissionable uranium-238. The centrifuge is significantly less power intensive than the gaseous diffusion process, and centrifuge technologies have already been commercialized by USEC's competitors, all of whom are foreign owned and use foreign-developed technology. For more information, see GAO-15-123.

East Tennessee Technology Park), which was never operated by USEC, are contaminated with hazardous industrial, chemical, nuclear, and radiological materials. Cleanup activities, known as decontamination and decommissioning, include assessing and treating groundwater or soil contamination, disposing of contaminated materials, and making general repairs to keep the plants in a safe condition until they can be fully demolished.²¹ According to DOE's 2010 *Uranium Enrichment Decontamination and Decommissioning Report*, the decontamination and decommissioning of the GDPs will cost billions of dollars and span several decades. DOE is decontaminating and decommissioning the three GDPs in the following phased approach:

- Oak Ridge GDP: DOE began decontaminating and decommissioning its Oak Ridge GDP in 1994 and estimates that it will be completed in 2024.
- Portsmouth GDP: DOE began decontaminating and decommissioning its Portsmouth GDP in 2009, announcing that it had contracted with USEC for accelerated environmental cleanup work to prepare the facility for decontamination and decommissioning. In August 2010, DOE entered into a new contract with another contractor (Fluor-B&W Portsmouth LLC) to decontaminate and decommission the former facilities at Portsmouth. According to a March 2014 DOE Office of Inspector General report, the decontamination and decommissioning work at the Portsmouth GDP is currently estimated to extend until 2044.
- **Paducah GDP**: DOE has not yet started decontaminating and decommissioning its Paducah GDP. After ceasing enrichment activities in May 2013, Centrus returned full control of the Paducah GDP to DOE in late October 2014. In July 2014, DOE contracted with Fluor Federal Services, Inc., to conduct activities to prepare the facility for eventual decontamination and decommissioning. According to a March 2014 DOE Office of Inspector General report, the decontamination and decommissioning work at the Paducah GDP is currently estimated to extend until 2044. However, according to DOE

²¹For more information, see GAO, *Uranium Enrichment: Decontamination and Decommissioning Fund Is Insufficient to Cover Cleanup Costs*, GAO-04-692 (Washington, D.C.: July 2, 2004), and *Uranium Enrichment: Extension of Decontamination and Decommissioning Fund May Be Needed to Cover Project Cleanup Costs*, GAO-08-277T (Washington, D.C.: Nov. 15, 2007).

	officials, the department is currently evaluating the projected lifecycle cost and schedule estimates for the Paducah cleanup completion.
Since 1998, DOE and USEC Have Been Involved in 23 Transactions	Since USEC was privatized in 1998 through June 1, 2015, DOE and USEC have engaged in 23 transactions (see app. II for a detailed description of the 23 transactions). ²² Based on our analysis of documents and interviews with DOE officials, we grouped these transactions into the following six broad categories:
	• Establishment of USEC. DOE and USEC engaged in 3 transactions to help establish the company as a private company. For example, DOE transferred enriched uranium to USEC, as required by the USEC Privatization Act, from 1998 to 2003. These transfers established value for USEC in the marketplace. In addition, beginning in 1998, DOE agreed to provide employment transition services to USEC for employees affected by restructuring activities that occurred at the Portsmouth and Paducah GDPs as a result of USEC's privatization.
	• National security . DOE and USEC engaged in 6 transactions for national security purposes. Specifically, DOE engaged in one transaction in 2012 to secure unobligated LEU from USEC to meet national security needs for the production of tritium for up to 18 months, and DOE engaged in a second transaction later in 2012 to secure unobligated LEU from USEC to meet national security needs for the production of tritium for up to 15 years. The other 4 transactions in this category supported the research and development of the American Centrifuge technology to meet long-term national security needs for unobligated LEU, such as for tritium production. For example, in 2010, DOE and USEC signed a cooperative agreement to share the cost of USEC's development and demonstration of the American Centrifuge technology for a year. To provide its share of the cost, DOE took title to and financial responsibility for the disposal of depleted uranium tails from USEC.
	 Facilities management. DOE and USEC engaged in 5 transactions regarding the operation and management of various facilities,

²²In 2008 and 2010, USEC applied for a loan guarantee from DOE for development of the American Centrifuge technology, but DOE deferred USEC's application on both occasions. We did not include this interaction in our list of transactions because it was attempted, but it was not completed.

including the Portsmouth and Paducah GDPs, as well as other facilities associated with the development of the American Centrifuge technology.²³ For example, in one transaction, DOE signed a lease agreement with United States Enrichment Corporation in 1993—when it became a government corporation—and the lease was transferred to the private corporation when the company was privatized. The agreement included USEC's lease of the Portsmouth and Paducah GDPs, as well as an electric power agreement and an agreement between DOE and USEC to provide certain services for each other related to the use of the GDPs. In another transaction, after USEC ceased enrichment activities at the Portsmouth GDP, DOE contracted with USEC from 2001 through 2011 for several activities associated with maintaining the facility in a dormant condition and preparing the facility for decontamination and decommissioning.

- Nuclear materials management and security. DOE and USEC engaged in 3 transactions to support the management and security of nuclear materials. In one transaction beginning in 1999, DOE agreed to pay USEC to provide safeguards and security services for HEU that DOE stored at the Portsmouth GDP. In another transaction beginning in 1999, USEC contracted with DOE for the storage of enriched uranium that exceeded the amount of material USEC could possess in its facilities under NRC limits. In the third transaction, from 2005 through 2008, DOE contracted with a USEC subsidiary to manage the U.S. government's nuclear materials tracking system, called the Nuclear Materials Management and Safeguards System.²⁴
- **Issues from prior transactions**. DOE and USEC engaged in 3 transactions to address issues with previous transfers of uranium when DOE had inadvertently provided USEC with uranium that did not conform to industry standards or more uranium than originally agreed on by the parties. For example, in March 2000, USEC discovered that

²³In May 2013, DOE and USEC were involved in negotiations about a possible transaction that would have involved USEC enriching off-specification uranium—that is, uranium with content that does not meet industry standards for commercial nuclear reactor fuel—to extend operations at the Paducah GDP, but negotiations ultimately were unsuccessful. We did not include this interaction in our list of transactions because it was not completed.

²⁴In 2004, USEC acquired a company with which DOE had an existing contract to manage the Nuclear Materials Management and Safeguards System. According to DOE officials, DOE extended the contract with this USEC subsidiary from October 1, 2005, through September 30, 2008.

uranium that it had received from DOE prior to privatization was contaminated with technetium, a radioactive metal that is considered a contaminant by commercial specifications for nuclear fuel. In a 7year transaction that began in 2002, DOE (1) contracted with USEC to clean up some of the contaminated uranium. (2) provided replacement uranium and monetary payment to USEC, and (3) took title to some of USEC's depleted uranium. In a second transaction, in 2003. DOE transferred HEU to USEC to replace other material that DOE transferred to USEC prior to privatization that did not conform to industry standards. In a third transaction, DOE and USEC addressed the fact that they had underestimated the amount of material stored in certain HEU cylinders that DOE had transferred to USEC prior to privatization. Specifically, DOE had transferred to USEC about 0.8 metric tons of HEU more than initially agreed on. To address this issue, in 1998, USEC agreed to pay DOE about \$35 million more than originally agreed on by the parties.

 Other. DOE and USEC engaged in 3 other transactions since 1998. One transaction—which occurred from 2005 through 2006 and involved DOE, USEC, and a third party—was intended to determine the feasibility and benefits of re-enriching a portion of DOE's depleted uranium inventory for potential use as nuclear fuel in a commercial reactor. In the other two transactions, USEC and its subsidiaries paid a fee for access to DOE restricted data related to the centrifuge technology.²⁵ Access to this data allowed USEC to utilize DOE centrifuge technology in the development and design of the American Centrifuge technology.

See appendix III for a table of the 23 transactions organized by category.

Figure 2 shows how the transactions were distributed over the 17-year period that we reviewed.²⁶ Our analysis shows that the general nature of the transactions evolved over time. Immediately following USEC's

²⁵Restricted data is information concerning the design, manufacture, or utilization of atomic weapons; production of special nuclear material; or use of special nuclear material in the production of energy, not including data declassified or removed from the restricted data category (i.e., formerly restricted data).

²⁶As described in the scope and methodology section of this report, for the purposes of our review, we examined the 17-year period from USEC's privatization on July 28, 1998, through July 1, 2015. However, as shown in figure 2, we also included the lease for the Portsmouth and Paducah GDPs, which was signed in 1993, because it commenced before July 28, 1998, and continued to be executed after USEC was privatized.

privatization, the majority of the transactions were of the establishment of USEC category. In the middle part of the 17-year period, most of the transactions were of the facilities management and nuclear materials management and security categories. In recent years, the majority of the transactions were of the national security category. DOE and USEC have been continuously involved in transactions since 1998. Of the 23 transactions, at least 6 have spanned a decade or longer, while the other transactions were of shorter duration.

Figure 2: Timeline of 23 Transactions in Which DOE and USEC Have Been Involved Since 1998



Sources: GAO analysis of Department of Energy (DOE) and USEC documents, and intrviews with DOE officials. | GAO-15-730

^aThese transactions began on the year listed in the graphic. However, we do not have information on the extent of their duration because DOE officials told us that they do not know when these transactions were completed.

In addition to the transactions described above, there were at least three other significant arrangements involving DOE and USEC, which were noteworthy because, in each case, DOE or USEC received something of value as part of the arrangement, even though the arrangement did not meet our definition of a transaction. These arrangements were as follows:

- Before it was privatized, the U.S. government selected United States Enrichment Corporation as the U.S. government's executive agent for the HEU Purchase Agreement—a 1993 nuclear arms reduction agreement between the United States and Russia. USEC continued its role as sole executive agent after its privatization, and activities under the agreement continued through 2013. Under the agreement, United States Enrichment Corporation, and later USEC, purchased LEU from the Russian government's executive agent, which had produced it by downblending HEU taken from dismantled Soviet-era nuclear warheads.²⁷ Centrus officials told us that USEC used its large backlog of contracts with commercial utilities to place the LEU in the market. According to Centrus officials, this agreement provided a significant source of supply of LEU to USEC over a 20-year period and resulted in the destruction of the equivalent of 20,000 nuclear warheads. We did not identify any exchange of funds between DOE and USEC related to USEC's service as the executive agent.²⁸
- In a December 2006 agreement, DOE granted USEC a nonexclusive patent license for the use or manufacture of the American Centrifuge technology. In this 2006 agreement, USEC agreed to pay DOE a royalty for the use of the American Centrifuge technology. According to DOE and Centrus officials, DOE has never received royalties from USEC or Centrus under this license. According to Centrus officials, the company has not made any payments because it has not yet commercialized the American Centrifuge Plant or sold any material produced by the centrifuge technology.

²⁷Downblending is the process of mixing HEU with depleted uranium, natural uranium, or LEU to produce a new product that has a lower concentration of uranium-235.

²⁸DOE and the broader U.S. government benefited from the arms reduction associated with implementing the agreement, and this benefit would have accrued to the government regardless of the entity selected to serve as the agent. The agreement was completed in 2013.

	• In 2012, USEC granted to DOE (1) an irrevocable, nonexclusive, royalty-free license, for use by or on behalf of the United States, in all centrifuge intellectual property for government purposes and (2) an irrevocable, nonexclusive license in all centrifuge intellectual property, with the right to sublicense to other parties, for commercial purposes. ²⁹ This arrangement was made at a time when there was uncertainty surrounding the future of the American Centrifuge technology. According to Centrus officials, USEC has transferred title to DOE for more than 30 existing centrifuges, built at USEC's expense, as well as all new machines built during the research, development, and demonstration program.
DOE Identified Various Costs and Benefits of Some of the Transactions	DOE identified various monetary and nonmonetary costs and benefits of the 23 transactions. For most transactions that occurred since 2005, DOE officials provided us with information through documents and interviews about the costs and benefits of each transaction. However, for transactions occurring prior to 2005, DOE officials were not always able to provide definitive information about the costs and benefits of the transactions independent of that which was stated in the transactional documents.
	For transactions occurring after 2005—which mostly fell into the national security category—the costs DOE identified were incurred through the transfer of appropriated funds to USEC, transfer of various types of uranium, and acceptance of responsibility for the future disposition of depleted uranium tails. The benefits DOE identified were both monetary (<i>i.e.</i> , payments or a reduction in obligations for the disposal of depleted uranium) and nonmonetary (<i>e.g.</i> , LEU, national security benefits such as the development of the American Centrifuge technology).
	For transactions prior to 2005, DOE officials were not always able to provide definitive information on the costs and benefits to DOE independent of that which was stated in the transactional documents. In some cases, for example, DOE officials told us that key officials familiar with the transactions had since retired or were deceased, and therefore information on the costs and benefits of these transactions was not

²⁹DOE may exercise the commercial license only if USEC misses certain development milestones for the American Centrifuge technology or if it is no longer willing or able to proceed with or has determined to abandon or has constructively abandoned the commercial deployment of the American Centrifuge technology.

	available. In addition, DOE officials told us that the department changed accounting systems in 2004, and therefore the officials could not always access definitive cost and benefit information prior to 2005. ³⁰ For example, DOE officials provided us with information on USEC's payments to DOE for the lease of the Portsmouth and Paducah GDPs from 2005 to 2014, but they could not provide us with information on USEC's payments prior to 2005.
Agency Comments and Our Evaluation	We provided a draft of this report for comment to the Secretary of Energy on July 29, 2015. DOE provided technical comments that were incorporated, as appropriate. We also provided a technical statement of facts to Centrus Energy Corp. We received technical comments from Centrus and incorporated them, as appropriate.
	As agreed with your offices, unless you publicly announce the contents of this report earlier, we plan no further distribution until 30 days from the report date. At that time, we will send copies to the appropriate congressional committees, the Secretary of Energy, and other interested parties. In addition, the report will be available at no charge on the GAO website at http://www.gao.gov.
	If you or your staff members have any questions about this report, please contact me at (202) 512-3841 or trimbled@gao.gov. Contact points for our Offices of Congressional Relations and Public Affairs may be found on the last page of this report. GAO staff who made key contributions to this report are listed in appendix V.
	Daval C. Tumble
	David C. Trimble Director, Natural Resources and Environment

³⁰In 2005, DOE replaced its legacy core financial systems with the Standard Accounting and Reporting System.

Appendix I: Objectives, Scope, and Methodology

The objectives of our review were to (1) identify transactions involving the Department of Energy (DOE) and USEC Inc. (USEC, now known as Centrus Energy Corp.) since USEC was privatized in 1998 and (2) describe the costs and benefits, if any, of these transactions to DOE, as identified by DOE.

For the purpose of our review, we define a transaction as a contract or agreement providing for an exchange of funds, uranium of any type, or services between or involving DOE and USEC. We included in our scope any transactions that occurred between USEC's privatization on July 28, 1998, and present (July 1, 2015), as well as transactions that commenced before July 28, 1998, but that continued to be executed after USEC was privatized. We excluded interactions involving DOE and USEC if no exchange of monetary payment, uranium, or services occurred.

To conduct this work, we reviewed and analyzed documents identifying these transactions and collected information regarding the type, purpose, costs, and benefits of the transactions. These documents include annual DOE budget justification materials for fiscal years 1999 through 2016, USEC/Centrus Energy Corp.'s annual reports and corporate filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission from 1998 through 2015, contracts and agreements between DOE and USEC, and prior GAO reports.¹ Once we identified a preliminary list of transactions involving DOE and USEC, we asked DOE to review the list. DOE officials amended the list and provided documentation for additional transactions to include. Based on our analysis of DOE documents, and through interviews with DOE officials, we added and consolidated certain transactions and removed others that were inconsistent with our definition of a transaction. We ultimately developed a final list of 23 transactions.² We also interviewed Centrus Energy Corp. officials and provided an opportunity to review and confirm the final list of transactions to ensure that the list was comprehensive and accurate, and they concurred with the list. We then provided DOE with a standard set of questions regarding the purpose, costs, and benefits of each of the transactions in the list. In two cases,

¹See, for example: GAO-15-123, GAO-14-291, GAO-11-846, and GAO-06-723.

²Some transactions we reviewed involved multiple steps or were based on several agreements between DOE and USEC. The aggregate number of transactions involving DOE and USEC could be added differently, depending on whether related contractual agreements between DOE and USEC are consolidated or separated.

DOE was able to fully complete the standard set of questions. For the other transactions, DOE officials told us that documentation was not fully available to answer the standard question sets for reasons we discuss in the report. Instead, we conducted interviews with DOE officials to collect information that they did know about each transaction, and we reviewed available DOE and USEC documentation to obtain additional information on the costs and benefits of each transaction. See appendix IV for an example of the standard set of questions we provided to DOE officials on each transaction.³

For the purpose of this review, in cases where data were available, we are reporting DOE-identified costs and benefits of each transaction. To assess the reliability of the costs and benefits that DOE identified for each transaction, we reviewed documents to corroborate DOE-identified costs and benefits. Such documents included contracts, memorandums of agreement, lease agreements, and summary information from DOE/NRC Form 741.⁴ Based on these steps, we determined that the information we are reporting on DOE-identified costs and benefits is sufficiently reliable for the purposes of this review.

We conducted this performance audit from November 2014 to September 2015 in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives.

³We slightly modified each question set to be specific to each transaction.

⁴Nuclear Regulatory Commission regulations require licensees who transfer, receive, or adjust their inventory of source or special nuclear material to report such activities. These reports are submitted using the DOE/NRC Form 741.

Appendix II: Information from Department of Energy on Its Transactions Involving USEC Inc. or Centrus Energy Corp. since 1998

Since 1998, the Department of Energy (DOE) and USEC Inc. (USEC) or Centrus Energy Corp. (Centrus) have been involved in 23 transactions that we grouped into six categories: (1) establishment of USEC, (2) national security, (3) facilities management, (4) nuclear materials management and security, (5) issues from prior transactions, and (6) other. DOE identified a variety of monetary and nonmonetary costs and benefits for most transactions occurring since 2005, but DOE was not always able to provide definitive information on the costs and benefits to DOE independent of that which was stated in the transactional documents.¹ The following 23 profiles provide a description of each transaction and information about the costs and benefits of each transaction, to the extent that DOE was able to provide it.

¹In cases where the costs or benefits are reported as "unknown," DOE officials told GAO that they did not know what the costs or benefits were to the agency. In cases where the costs or benefits are reported as "none identified," DOE officials did not identify any costs or benefits to the agency for that transaction. In cases where the costs or benefits are reported as \$0, DOE officials told us that there were no costs or benefits for that transaction.

1. Lease of the Portsmouth and Paducah Gaseous Diffusion Plants, 1993–2014

Table 2: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified Costs and Benefits for the Lease of the Portsmouth and Paducah Gaseous Diffusion Plants (GDP)

			DOE-identified benefits
Transaction category	DOE-identified costs	Monetary benefits	Nonmonetary benefits
Facilities management	\$0 ^a	At least \$17,296,275 ^b	Compliance with the Energy Policy Act of 1992
Sources: GAO analysis of DOE documer	nts and interviews with DOE officials. C	GAO-15-730	
	^a DOE offi electric p for the se	icials stated that they did not inc ower agreement component of t ervices agreement.	ur any costs for executing the lease agreement or the he lease, and they were unable to identify the costs to DOE
	^b This is tł 2005 thro prior to 2 agreeme	ne cumulative total amount that bugh fiscal year 2014. DOE was 005. DOE officials also did not k nt and services agreement comp	USEC paid to DOE for rent of the GDPs from fiscal year unable to provide information about USEC's rent payments now of any monetary benefits of the electric power ponents of the lease.
Transaction Deta	ils The Er Enrich (GDP) Enrich When private Howey	nergy Policy Act of 1992 ment Corporation to lea in Ohio and Kentucky. ment Corporation enter USEC was privatized in corporation and eventu- ver, USEC returned both	2 directed the newly created United States se DOE's two gaseous diffusion plants On July 1, 1993, DOE and United States ed into an initial 6-year lease for the GDPs. 1998, the lease was transferred to the ually renewed through July 1, 2016. In GDPs to DOE prior to 2016.
	Po inte cea the sub	rtsmouth GDP: On De ent to return the leased asing uranium enrichme Portsmouth plant in co osequently cold shutdow	cember 23, 2010, USEC notified DOE of its areas of the Portsmouth GDP to DOE. After ent operations in 2001, USEC maintained Id standby at DOE's request and wn status until 2011. ²
	• Pa ret 20 ⁻	ducah GDP : On Augus urn the leased areas of 14.	t 1, 2013, USEC notified DOE of its intent to the Paducah GDP to DOE on October 21,
	The lea GDPs;	ase contained three key (2) an electric power a	components: (1) the lease of the two greement for the GDPs; and (3) a services
	² USEC'	s American Centrifuge Plant	is located on the site of the Portsmouth GDP and was

unaffected by the return of the GDP facilities because associated facilities are leased to USEC beginning in 2004 under a separate agreement with DOE, which continues through June 2019 (see transaction number 15).

agreement, which enabled DOE and USEC to provide certain services for each other at the GDPs. 3

- Lease property at the GDPs: USEC agreed to pay DOE annual rent at the two GDPs. The base rent represented DOE's costs of administering the lease (including the electric power agreement) and additional rent representing DOE's costs in providing regulatory oversight of the GDPs.⁴ USEC's annual rent was to be increased or decreased each year to reflect DOE's actual costs for lease administration. According to DOE officials, from fiscal year 2005 through 2014, DOE received from USEC \$17,296,275 in rent payments for the GDPs.⁵
- **Electric power agreement:** When USEC assumed operation of the GDPs, there were long-standing power purchase contracts in place between DOE and two electric power utilities—the Ohio Valley Electric Corporation and Electric Energy, Inc. These two utilities were formed in the early 1950s to provide power to one of DOE's predecessor agencies (the Atomic Energy Commission) for uranium enrichment. The Energy Policy Act of 1992 required that these power purchase contracts be transferred to USEC, or, if the Secretary determined that they could not be transferred, the act required the Secretary to continue to receive power under the contracts and resell the power to the government corporation at cost. In 1993, the Secretary of Energy determined that it was not possible to transfer these power contracts from DOE to USEC. Accordingly, DOE maintained the contracts and sold the power at cost to the government corporation. The USEC Privatization Act directed the government corporation to transfer to the private corporation the right to purchase power from the Secretary under the contracts and

³For the purpose of this review, we consider the lease and the two related components to be one transaction associated with facilities management.

⁴This cost structure was required by the Energy Policy Act of 1992.

⁵DOE was unable to provide information about USEC's rent payments prior to 2005 because of a change in DOE's accounting system in 2004.

directed the Secretary to continue selling power to the private corporation at cost.⁶

• Services agreement: DOE and USEC entered into this agreement to provide services to one another in support of each other's activities at the Portsmouth and Paducah GDPs. Under this agreement, DOE and USEC were to provide services in accordance with work authorizations, which included specific details such as scope of work, cost estimates, and schedule requirements applicable to the service requested. For example, according to the agreement, USEC agreed to perform certain services for DOE facilities, such as fire protection and janitorial services.

⁶According to Centrus officials, the power purchase agreement for the Portsmouth plant was terminated by DOE effective April 30, 2003. Since September 2000, USEC had been purchasing its power for the Paducah plant under an independent agreement with the Tennessee Valley Authority.

2. Transfer of Highly Enriched Uranium, 1998–2003

Table 3: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified Costs and Benefits for Transfer of Highly Enriched Uranium (HEU)

		DOE-identified benefits		
Transaction category	DOE-identified costs	Monetary benefits	Nonmonetary benefits	
Establishment of USEC	Up to 50 metric tons of HEU ^a and costs associated with safeguards and security ^b	None identified	 Compliance with the USEC Privatization Act Reduced stockpile of HEU 	
Sources: GAO analysis of DOE docum	nents and interviews with DOE officials. GAO-15-730			
^a DOE officials did not provide GAO with informatio transferred to USEC. According to the agreement transfer 50 metric tons of HEU on separate occasi 2003. ^b According to the agreement, DOE was responsible the HEU until the HEU was made available or deliv agreement did not provide the actual amount DOE with this information.		ation about the actual amount of HEU that DOE ent between the two parties, DOE had agreed to casions between September 1998 and September nsible for paying the safeguards and security costs for delivered to USEC, whichever was sooner. The DOE was to pay, and DOE officials did not provide us		
Transaction Deta	ails The USEC Pri charge up to 5 tons of natural	ivatization Act requir 50 metric tons of enr I uranium from DOE	red DOE to transfer to USEC without iched uranium and up to 7,000 metric 's stockpile. ⁷ A Senate report the act stated that witnesses providing	
	testimony on t in the marketp highly enriche entered into a HEU. Accordir uranium to US DOE was to tr	the bill sought such to blace and reduce DC d uranium (HEU). ⁸ C n agreement for the ng to the agreement SEC by April 21, 199 ransfer the HEU to L	transfers to enhance the value of USEC DE's costs of safeguarding surplus Dn April 21, 1998, DOE and USEC transfer of the natural uranium and , DOE was to transfer the natural 8—prior to privatization. In addition, JSEC in several allotments over	
	USEC were conserved that DOE trans nuclear reactor between 3 per downblended. HEU.	sferred to USEC was require an assay cent and 5 percent, USEC contracted w	ar 2006. The average assay of the HEU s 43.7 percent. Because commercial level of low-enriched uranium (LEU) USEC needed to have the HEU with Babcock & Wilcox to downblend the	

⁷USEC Privatization Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2297h-2297h-13 (2015).

⁸S. Rep. No. 104-173, at 14 (1995).

3. Amendment to a Previous HEU Transfer, 1998

Table 4: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified Costs and Benefits for Amendment to a Previous Highly Enriched Uranium (HEU) Transfer

		DOE-identified benefits		
Transaction category	DOE-identified costs	Monetary benefits	Nonmonetary benefits	
Issues from prior transactions	Unknown ^a	\$34.7 million	None identified	

Sources: GAO analysis of DOE documents and interviews with DOE officials. | GAO-15-730

^aDOE officials told us that they do not know what costs, if any, DOE incurred through this transaction.

Transaction Details DOE and USEC underestimated the amount of material stored in certain HEU cylinders that DOE had transferred to United States Enrichment Corporation prior to privatization as part of a 1994 agreement. According to the 1998 amendment to the 1994 agreement, DOE and USEC determined that, "through a mutual mistake," DOE transferred to USEC about 0.8 metric tons of HEU more than initially agreed upon. To address this issue, according to the 1998 amendment to the agreement, USEC agreed to pay DOE \$34.7 million to cover the costs of the additional material. This \$34.7 million was credited against amounts owed by DOE for services performed by USEC at the GDPs under the 1993 lease agreement.

4. Worker Transition Services, Beginning in 1998⁹

Table 5: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified Costs and Benefits for Worker Transition Services

		DOE-identified benefits		
Transaction category	DOE-identified costs	Monetary benefits	Nonmonetary benefits	
Establishment of USEC	None identified	\$20 million ^a	None identified	
Sources: GAO analysis of DOE documents and	interviews with DOE officials. GAO-15-730			
	^a According to the n the U.S. Treasury t	nemorandum of agreement, USEC a to be administered by DOE to provid	agreed to transfer \$20 million to an account in le the worker transition services.	
Transaction Details	DOE agreed t benefit of emp Portsmouth a USEC agreed out these serv DOE assistan to achieve any fiscal years 19 adjustment be employees aff that \$5 million create employ	to provide services to and bloyees affected by workfor nd Paducah GDPs as a re I to provide \$20 million to b vices. These services were ce to USEC in the formula y necessary reductions in 299 and 2000, and the adr enefits, such as post-separ fected by restructuring. In a would be allocated to eco vment opportunities for the	in coordination with USEC for the precerestructuring activities at the sult of USEC's privatization. The administered by DOE to carry to include, among other things, ation and implementation of a plan employment at the GDPs during ministration of enhanced ration education assistance, to addition, the parties estimated promic development projects to affected employees.	

⁹DOE officials told us that they do not know when DOE stopped providing these transition services because key DOE officials knowledgeable about this transaction had retired from DOE.

5. Depleted Uranium Tails Liability Acceptance, 1998–2004

Table 6: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified Costs and Benefits for Depleted Uranium Tails Liability Acceptance

		DOE-identified benefits		
Transaction category	DOE-identified costs	Monetary benefits	Nonmonetary benefits	
Establishment of USEC	\$50 million ^a	\$50 million ^b	Unknown	
Sources: GAO analysis of DOE documents and	interviews with DOE officials. GAO-15-730			
	^a This is the estimat accepted from USI	ted dollar value of the liability associa EC in this transaction.	ated with the depleted uranium tails that DOE	
	^b USEC paid DOE a tails.	about \$50 million for the storage, ma	nagement, and disposition of the transferred	
Transaction Details	DOE and USI DOE agreed to 16,673,980 ki that is genera considered to material to DO was privatized the storage, n	EC signed an agreement of to accept title to and posse lograms of uranium of dep ited by the uranium enrichr be waste—from USEC. U DE from fiscal years 1999 to d on July 28, 1998, USEC nanagement, and disposition	n June 30, 1998, under which ession of approximately leted uranium tails—a product ment process that is generally SEC agreed to transfer this to 2004. In exchange, before it paid DOE about \$50 million for on of the transferred tails.	

6. HEU Safeguards and Security Services, Beginning in 1999¹⁰

Table 7: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified Costs and Benefits for Highly Enriched Uranium (HEU) Safeguards and Security Services

			DOE-identified benefits		
Transaction category		DOE-identified costs	Monetary benefits	Nonmonetary benefits	
Nuclear materials management and securit	y	Unknown ^a	Unknown	Unknown	
Sources: GAO analysis of DOE documents and interviews with De	DE officials.	GAO-15-730			
	^a DOE o letter ag certain The ag but did	officials were unable to provide greement, DOE agreed to particulate facilities storing HEU at the reement provided that USEC not detail those costs.	de us with the actual costs to ay USEC \$6.18 million for the Portsmouth GDP from Octobe C would invoice DOE for costs	DOE; however, according to the safeguards and security costs of at 1, 1998, to September 30, 1999. subsequent to September 30, 1999,	
Transaction Details	DOE HEU to pay secur Ports invoid not p	agreed to pay USEC that DOE stored at to y USEC \$6.18 million re DOE HEU stored a mouth GDP. While to ce DOE for subseque rovide us with any de	C to provide safeguard he Portsmouth GDP. In during fiscal year 19 at the X-326 and X-34 he agreement indicate ent safeguards and se etails about subseque	Is and security services for Specifically, DOE agreed 199 to safeguard and 15 buildings located at the red that USEC would ecurity services, DOE did nt payments.	

¹⁰DOE officials told us that they do not know when this transaction was completed.

7. Storage of Uranium Enriched to 10 Percent or Greater Assay, Beginning in 1999¹¹

Table 8: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified Costs and Benefits for Storage of Uranium Enriched to 10% or **Greater Assay**

		DOE-ide	entified benefits
Transaction category	DOE-identified costs	Monetary benefits	Nonmonetary benefits
Nuclear materials management and security	unknown ^a	Unknown ^b	None identified
Sources: GAO analysis of DOE documents and interviews with DO	E officials. GAO-15-730		
	^a DOE officials told us that they do	not know what costs, if any, D	OE incurred through this transaction.
	^b DOE officials told us that they do transaction or how much USEC co	not know what benefits, if any, mpensated DOE to store the e	DOE received through this enriched uranium.
Transaction Details	USEC contracted with DC exceeded the amount of agreement between DOE under Nuclear Regulatory and manage some of US material enriched to 10 p reimburse DOE for the co equipment, containers, a	DE for the storage of e material that, accordin and USEC, USEC co y Commission (NRC) EC's equipment, conta ercent or greater assa osts associated with the nd uranium. ¹²	enriched uranium that ig to a January 1999 buld possess in its facilities limits. DOE agreed to store ainers, and uranium by level. USEC agreed to be storage of USEC's

¹¹DOE officials told us that they do not know how long the department stored enriched uranium for USEC.

¹²The agreement between DOE and USEC did not specify how much USEC would reimburse DOE, and DOE officials told us that they do not known how much USEC compensated the department to store the enriched uranium.

8. Atomic Vapor Laser Isotope Separation Termination, Beginning in 1999¹³

Table 9: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified Costs and Benefits for Atomic Vapor Laser Isotope Separation (AVLIS) Termination

		-identified benefits	
Transaction category	DOE-identified costs	Monetary benefits	Nonmonetary benefits
Facilities management	Unknown	Unknown ^a	Unknown
Sources: GAO analysis of DOE documents and	a interviews with DOE officials. GAO-15-730 ^a DOE officials told transaction. Howe for work already p USEC had paid on	I us that they do not know what bene ever, the agreement required USEC reformed by USEC for DOE and and r owed to a third-party contractor for	efits, if any, DOE received through this to pay DOE \$27.1 million, minus \$13.4 million other unspecified amount representing what work performed from July 1999 to August 1999.
Transaction Details	In the 1970s, called atomic Livermore Na 1992 required and physical Enrichment O 1995. Accord develop and after determin outweigh the development on other enric DOE entered on the AVLIS terminate cer including obli	DOE began researching a vapor laser isotope separ ational Laboratory in Califo d the President, if requeste property pertaining to the Corporation without charge ling to USEC, it invested o demonstrate this next-gen ning that the benefits of co potential risks, in June 19 of the technology and dec chment technologies. Follo I into an August 1999 agrees technology. This agreement tain of its obligations related igations related to decontal	a uranium enrichment technology ration (AVLIS) at the Lawrence mia. ¹⁴ The Energy Policy Act of ed, to transfer DOE's intellectual AVLIS technology to United States a. The transfer was made in April ver \$100 million dollars to further eration technology. ¹⁵ However, ontinuing AVLIS research would not 99, USEC suspended further cided that instead, it would focus owing that decision, USEC and ement to terminate USEC's work ent required USEC to pay DOE to ed to the original agreement, mination and decommissioning,
	¹³ DOE officials ended for this tr transaction is de	told us that they do not know wh ansaction. According to DOE off eceased.	en the activities or the contract terms ficials, the individual most familiar with this
	¹⁴ The AVLIS tee hexafluoride gas enrichment proc	chnology involves processing un s, which is the feedstock used in cesses—through lasers to separ	anium metal—rather than uranium the gaseous diffusion and centrifuge ate uranium-235 from uranium-238.
	¹⁵ The AVLIS en to USEC, it was electricity and 2	richment technology was consid expected to significantly reduce 0 to 30 percent less uranium tha	lered next generation, because according operating costs and use 90 percent less in the gaseous diffusion process.

disposal of waste, and access to records. USEC agreed to pay \$27.1 million, minus \$13.4 million for work already performed by USEC for DOE and another unspecified amount representing what USEC had paid or owed to a third-party contractor for work performed from July 1999 to August 1999.

9. Permit for USEC Access to Restricted Data, 1999–Present

Table 10: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified Costs and Benefits for Permit for USEC Access to Restricted Data

		DOE-identified benefits		
Transaction category	DOE-identified costs	Monetary benefits	Nonmonetary benefits	
Other	\$0	Unknown ^a	None identified	
Sources: GAO analysis of DOE documents an	nd interviews with DOE officials. GAO-15-73	30		
	^a Permittees mus restricted data. I access permits, included in USE	It agree to pay \$25,000 for a two-year However, DOE officials told us that th as the amount was included in USEC C's rent payments were not broken d	r access permit authorizing access to certain ey do not know how much USEC paid for the 2's ongoing rent payments, and the costs own.	
Transaction Details	USEC paid be renewed must agree restricted da unknown be in USEC's o payments w	a fee for access to DOE re- every 2 years. According t to pay \$25,000 to DOE to a ata; however, the actual am ecause, according to DOE o ongoing rent payments, and vere not broken down.	stricted data, and the permit had to o DOE regulations, permittees authorize access to certain bount that USEC paid to DOE is officials, the amount was included I the costs included in USEC's rent	

10. Cooperative Research and Development Agreement, 2000–2014

Table 11: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified Costs and Benefits for Cooperative Research and Development Agreement (CRADA)

		DOE	-identified benefits
Transaction category	DOE-identified costs	Monetary benefits	Nonmonetary benefits
National security ^a	\$0 ^b	None identified	None identified
Sources: GAO analysis of DOE documents and	d interviews with DOE officials. GAO-15-73	0	
	^a According to Oa enrichment capal	k Ridge officials, this transaction is a bility.	also related to the development of a commercial
	^b According to the	CRADA, the government's estimate	ed contribution was \$0.
Transaction Details	On June 30, Developmen LLC—the ma National Lab develop an e enrichment p DOE in July the CRADA CRADA, US National Lab The total est by USEC, wi CRADA in th CRADA was "Domestic U agreement w	2000, DOE approved a Co at Agreement (CRADA) bet anagement and operating poratory. The purpose of the economically attractive gas process. ¹⁶ Initial extensions 2002 and September 2002 was renewed in 2012 and EC employees and technic poratory work to deploy US imated value of the CRAD hich, according to Oak Rid he history of the laboratory. terminated in 2014 after U ranium Enrichment – Cent with USEC in May 2014 (se	ooperative Research and tween USEC and UT-Battelle, contractor for DOE's Oak Ridge e CRADA was for the parties to s centrifuge machine and s to the CRADA were approved by 2. According to Oak Ridge officials, extended through 2017. Under the cal personnel from Oak Ridge EC's "lead cascade" test facility. ¹⁷ A was \$435 million, funded entirely lge officials, was the single largest . According to DOE officials, the JT-Battelle, LLC, signed the trifuge Information and Analysis" ee transaction number 23).

¹⁶While the CRADA is a transaction between USEC and UT-Battelle, we included it in the scope of our review because it was entered into under UT-Battelle's contract with DOE to manage and operate the Oak Ridge National Laboratory and therefore represented an indirect exchange of services between DOE and USEC.

¹⁷According to Centrus, a "lead cascade" is a configuration of full-size centrifuge machines operating in a closed-loop formation, whereby samples are withdrawn for testing purposes and the enriched and depleted uranium streams are recombined into feed material.

11. Portsmouth GDP Closure, 2001–2011

Table 12: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified Costs and Benefits for Portsmouth Gaseous Diffusion Plant (GDP) Closure

		DOE-identified benefits			
Transaction category	DOE-identified costs	Monetary benefits	Nonmonetary benefits		
Facilities management \$895 million ^a		Reduction of long-term decontamination and decommissioning costs	Maintenance of the GDP in a condition allowing enrichment to be resumed if needed		
Sources: GAO analysis of DOE docu	ments and interviews with DOE offici	als. GAO-15-730			
	^a Acc Port payr 1,47	ording to DOE officials, DOE paid USEC approximate smouth closure from 2001 through 2011. About \$700 nents from appropriated funding. DOE used natural u 3 metric tons of uranium) to pay for the remaining am	ely \$895 million for activities related to the million of this amount was in monetary ranium valued at about \$195 million (about rount.		
Transaction Details		E and USEC were involved in a 10-yea sure of the Portsmouth GDP. Activities formed under one contract and represe tsmouth GDP: (1) cold standby and (2 Cold standby : In June 2000, USEC a uranium enrichment operations at the 2001. ¹⁸ On March 1, 2001, the Secreta DOE would place the Portsmouth GDF dormant condition that would allow op 18 to 24 months if needed. In August 2 an agreement for USEC to provide cer necessary for maintaining the GDP in beginning in 2001, USEC provided a r related to cold standby, including winte deposits of uranium hexafluoride from Cold shutdown : In 2006, DOE and U GDP cold standby contract to begin tra shutdown mode. Cold shutdown mode prepare the GDP for eventual deconta	ar transaction related to the related to the closure were ented two phases at the) cold shutdown. nnounced its decision to cease Portsmouth GDP in June ary of Energy announced that P in cold standby mode—a erations to be resumed within 2001, DOE and USEC signed rtain services, including those cold standby mode. Specifically, number of services for DOE erization and removal of equipment. SEC modified the Portsmouth ansitioning the GDP to cold e involved work to maintain and mination and decommissioning.		
	¹⁸ Δ	coording to Centrus officials. USEC decided to	cease enrichment operations at the		

¹⁰According to Centrus officials, USEC decided to cease enrichment operations at the Portsmouth GDP as a result of increased supply of LEU from Russia under the HEU Purchase Agreement—a 1993 nuclear arms reduction agreement between the United States and Russia—and the high costs of operating the GDP.

According to DOE officials, the department let the contract expire on March 28, 2011.

12. Uranium Decontamination and Replacement, 2002–2009

Table 13: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified Costs and Benefits for Uranium Decontamination and Replacement

			DOE-identified benefits
Transaction category	DOE-identified costs	Monetary benefits	Nonmonetary benefits
Issues from prior transactions	Unknown ^a	None identified	 DOE was released of all liability associated with the contaminated uranium that it had transferred to USEC before privatization
			 DOE's contaminated uranium was also decontaminated, allowing DOE to use it to meet program needs
Sources: GAO analysis of DOE documents and	interviews with DOE officials. GAO-	15-730	
	^e DOE official period 2002– compensated and about \$8 according to from USEC, agreement, a agreement.	s told us that they do not I -2006. However, DOE offid d USEC with about \$220 r 85 million was in 1,104 me a 2002 agreement, DOE a as well as title to 4,080 M and title to an undefined an	know the costs DOE incurred through this transaction for the cials stated that under 2004 and 2006 agreements, DOE nillion, of which about \$140 million was in monetary payments tric tons of uranium (MTU) of natural uranium. In addition, agreed to accept title to up to 23,300 MTU of depleted uranium TU of depleted uranium under a November 2003 letter nount of depleted uranium under a September 2003 letter
Transaction Details	Under this contracte DOE prov took title f USEC no tons of na was conta as a by-p commerc contamina uranium i According uranium v USEC red clean ura compensa	s transaction, which d for USEC to clear vided replacement to some of USEC's tified DOE that up atural uranium that aminated with tech roduct of fission in ial specification for ated uranium, DOE n DOE's inventory g to USEC, replacin would have cost US quested that DOE r nium from DOE's in ating USEC for the	h spanned 7 years, DOE and USEC n up contaminated uranium; in exchange, uranium and payments to USEC and also depleted uranium. Specifically, in early 2001, to 9,550 metric tons of about 45,000 metric it had received from DOE prior to privatization netium—a radioactive metal that is produced a nuclear reactor—at levels exceeding the nuclear fuel. ¹⁹ After USEC notified DOE of its determined that about 5,517 metric tons of was also contaminated with technetium. ng the 9,550 metric tons of contaminated SEC approximately \$238 million in 2001. replace USEC's contaminated uranium with nventory. DOE did not admit legal liability for contaminated uranium. In addition, according

¹⁹Between United States Enrichment Corporation's creation in 1992 and its privatization in 1998, DOE transferred about 45,000 metric tons of natural uranium to the corporation for, among other things, fulfilling enrichment contracts with USEC's customers.

Appendix II: Information from Department of Energy on Its Transactions Involving USEC Inc. or Centrus Energy Corp. since 1998

to DOE officials, DOE did not have enough available clean uranium in its excess uranium inventory to replace all of USEC's contaminated uranium.

However, starting in 2002, DOE and USEC signed a series of agreements to decontaminate or replace USEC's contaminated inventory (see fig. 3 for a summary of the uranium decontamination process). In June 2002, DOE and USEC agreed that, among other things, USEC would process some of the contaminated uranium at the Portsmouth plant for 15 months to remove the technetium. USEC would initially pay about half of the costs associated with decontamination, and DOE would compensate USEC by taking title to some of USEC's depleted uranium, reducing USEC's costs for eventual disposal of this material. As part of the June 2002 agreement, USEC agreed to formally release DOE from any potential claims of liability as USEC decontaminated the uranium. USEC decontaminated about 2,900 metric tons of uranium under this agreement. DOE and USEC signed two subsequent agreements in September and November 2003 that extended USEC's decontamination work through December 2003.

In 2004, DOE and USEC signed additional agreements for USEC to decontaminate uranium. Specifically, under an April 2004 work authorization, DOE paid USEC using appropriated funds for decontamination work conducted from December 2003 to December 2004. USEC decontaminated about 2,050 metric tons during this time. In October 2004, DOE replaced 2,116 metric tons of USEC's contaminated uranium with the same amount of uncontaminated uranium. Two months later, in December 2004, USEC agreed to decontaminate an additional amount of contaminated uranium. In June 2006, we reported that DOE had provided USEC about 1,100 metric tons of uncontaminated uranium, which USEC sold on the commercial market for \$84.4 million. In addition, in April 2006, DOE sold uranium to obtain funding to compensate USEC for decontamination services that were expected to last from July 2006 through November 2006. According to DOE officials, uranium cleanup activities continued through 2009.

In addition, DOE had a total of about 7,633 metric tons of contaminated uranium in its own inventory—including the 2,116 metric tons it took from USEC and the 5,517 metric tons of uranium in its own inventory that DOE had previously identified as being contaminated. USEC agreed to decontaminate some of DOE's inventory under the December 2004 agreement, which DOE agreed to pay for by transferring some uncontaminated uranium to USEC. All of the contaminated uranium would eventually need to be decontaminated before DOE could make it

Appendix II: Information from Department of Energy on Its Transactions Involving USEC Inc. or Centrus Energy Corp. since 1998

commercially available because the presence of the contaminant significantly reduced the value of the uranium in the commercial marketplace.

Figure 3: Process Used to Decontaminate Uranium at the Portsmouth Gaseous Diffusion Plant



Source: GAO analysis of USEC data; USEC (photos). | GAO-15-730

13. Lease for Centrifuge Production and Testing Facilities, 2002–2016

Table 14: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified Costs and Benefits for Lease for Centrifuge Production and Testing Facilities

		DOE-identified benefits	
Transaction category	DOE-identified costs	Monetary benefits	Nonmonetary benefits
Facilities management	\$0	At least \$8,188,799 ^a	None identified
Sources: GAO analysis of DOE documents and	l interviews with DOE officials. GAO-15-730		
	^a This is the cumul fiscal year 2005 th payments prior to	ative total amount that USEC paid to rrough fiscal year 2014. DOE was un 2005.	DOE for rent of the Oak Ridge facilities from able to provide information on USEC's rent
Transaction Details	On December for two buildin American Ce K-101 in DOE manufacturin through Janu eventually re (see transact third-party pro electricity cos	er 20, 2002, DOE and USE ngs in Oak Ridge, Tenness ntrifuge technology. The tw E's East Tennessee Techno g and testing facilities. The ary 2006 but, according to newed through January 20 ion number 1), for this leas ovider to procure electricity sts are not included in USE	C entered into a lease agreement ee, for the purpose of developing /o leased buildings (K-1600 and ology Park) provided USEC with term of the lease was initially DOE officials, the lease was 16. Unlike the lease for the GDPs e USEC contracted directly with a for the facilities, and therefore, C's rent payments.

14. HEU Transfer to Replace Previously Transferred HEU, 2003

Table 15: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified Costs and Benefits for Highly Enriched Uranium (HEU) Transfer to Replace Previously Transferred HEU

		DOE-i	dentified benefits
Transaction category	DOE-identified costs	Monetary benefits	Nonmonetary benefits
Issues from prior transactions	Unknown ^a	Unknown ^a	Unknown ^a
Sources: GAO analysis of DOE documents and interview	ews with DOE officials. GAO-15-730		
	^a DOE officials told us the DOE officials knowledge	at they do not know the costs and eable about the transaction have r	benefits of this transaction because key etired from DOE.
Transaction Details	In February 2001 the HEU delivered HEU to USEC. Sp of the arrangemen be downblended of some of the HE into LEU. Therefor material and prov material. In 2003, According to the 2 USEC, DOE also drying, repackagi	, USEC notified DOE that d under a prior transaction pecifically, in a letter to D int was for DOE to provid into commercially accept EU ha[d] been so poor" the ore, USEC requested that ide an equivalent amount DOE agreed to transfer 2003 memorandum of ag agreed to compensate U ng, and shipping the reje	t it intended to reject some of on in which DOE transferred DOE, USEC noted that the intent e USEC with material that could table LEU; however, "the quality nat it was not practical to make t DOE take back the rejected at of HEU to replace the rejected replacement HEU to USEC. greement between DOE and USEC for the costs of sampling, acted HEU to DOE.

15. Lease for American Centrifuge Lead Cascade Facilities, 2004–2019

Table 16: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified Costs and Benefits for Lease for American Centrifuge Lead Cascade Facilities

		DOE-identified benefits		
Transaction category	DOE-identified costs	Monetary benefits	Nonmonetary benefits	
Facilities management	\$0	At least \$13,109,756 ^a	None identified	

Sources: GAO analysis of DOE documents and interviews with DOE officials. | GAO-15-730

^aThis is the cumulative total amount that USEC paid to DOE for rent of the American Centrifuge lead cascade facilities from fiscal year 2007 through fiscal year 2014. DOE did not provide GAO with the amount USEC paid to DOE under the temporary lease from 2004 through 2006.

Transaction Details In 2002, USEC announced that it had selected the Portsmouth GDP facilities in Piketon, Ohio, as the site of its future lead cascade for the American Centrifuge Plant. The purpose of USEC's lead cascade was to refurbish, test, evaluate, and demonstrate gas centrifuges. In addition, the lead cascade was expected to yield performance data for USEC on the design, cost, operation, and reliability of the centrifuge technology. In 2004, DOE entered into a temporary lease agreement with USEC at the Portsmouth GDP to facilitate preparation of the site—such as moving certain DOE material and equipment—for a longer-term lease of facilities related to the development of its lead cascade. Later, in 2006, USEC and DOE signed a second lease for the purposes of developing the lead cascade and for the construction and operation of a gas centrifuge enrichment plant. The lease agreement is still in place with Centrus Energy Corp.

16. Depleted Uranium Tails Pilot Project, 2005–2006

Table 17: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified Costs and Benefits for the Depleted Uranium Tails Pilot Project

		DOE-identif	ied benefits
Transaction category	DOE-identified costs	Monetary benefits	Nonmonetary benefits
Other	Unknown ^a	 \$10,450 per cylinder successfully enriched Avoidance of approximately \$40 million in disposal costs 	Demonstration that there is a viable path for reutilization of DOE's inventory of depleted uranium tails
Sources: GAO analysis of DOE docum	ents and interviews with DOE officials.	GAO-15-730	
	^a DOE o	officials stated that they do not have an estimate	of costs to DOE for this transaction.
Transaction Deta	ails In 200 Powe of agu of DC fuel fo powe which uranin based Accon and th Enviro assay Admi would USEC	05, DOE's Office of Environmental er Administration, Energy Northwess reements to carry out a pilot project DE's depleted uranium inventory co or Energy Northwest's Columbia Ge er reactor near Richland, Washington n Bonneville Power Administration h um tails would be re-enriched and u d feed to produce LEU for the Colum rdingly, in spring 2005, DOE's Offic he Bonneville Power Administration onmental Management would trans y depleted uranium to Energy North nistration and Energy Northwest ag d accept the depleted uranium. Ene C to enrich the depleted uranium. A	Management, the Bonneville t, ²⁰ and USEC executed a series t to determine whether a portion uld be used to produce nuclear enerating Station, a nuclear on, the generating capacity of nad purchased. ²¹ The depleted used instead of natural uranium- mbia Generating Station. the of Environmental Management or agreed that the Office of safer about 5,720 MTU of high- nivest, and the Bonneville Power greed that Energy Northwest ergy Northwest contracted with at the time of the 2005 agreement,
	²⁰ Ener United provide agency	rgy Northwest is a membership organizatio States that includes the Columbia Genera es all of its output at cost to the Bonneville y.	n of public utilities in the northwestern ting Station—a nuclear power plant that Power Administration, a federal nonprofit
	²¹ In 20 possib Genera reduce Energy propos Admin	004, Energy Northwest approached the Bor ility of re-enriching some of DOE's deplete ating Station. DOE was interested in the pr the costs DOE would otherwise incur for of y Northwest and the Bonneville Power Adm sal because, if successful, it would reduce of istration ratepayers.	neville Power Administration about the d uranium for use as fuel at the Columbia oposal because, if successful, it would disposing of the depleted uranium. ninistration were interested in the electricity rates for the Bonneville Power

Appendix II: Information from Department of Energy on Its Transactions Involving USEC Inc. or Centrus Energy Corp. since 1998

the parties estimated that Energy Northwest would pay USEC approximately \$88 million for enrichment services and fees. Energy Northwest agreed to pay the Office of Environmental Management \$10,450 per cylinder successfully enriched. Energy Northwest also agreed to pay the Office of Environmental Management \$2,200 per cylinder of depleted uranium transferred or returned to offset shipping costs—which were, according to DOE officials, about \$1.5 million in total. Because the costs were offset by Energy Northwest, DOE officials said that there were likely no major costs to DOE for the transaction. At the time of the transaction, DOE expected the transaction would enable it to avoid as much as \$40 million in disposal costs, according to a DOE letter to Energy Northwest.

17. Nuclear Materials Management and Safeguards System Management Contract, 2005–2008

Table 18: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified Costs and Benefits for Nuclear Materials Management and Safeguards System (NMMSS) Management Contract

		DOE-identified benefits	
Transaction category	DOE-identified costs	Monetary benefits	Nonmonetary benefits
Nuclear materials management and security	\$10,230,000 ^a	None identified	Nuclear material control and accountability

Sources: GAO analysis of DOE documents and interviews with DOE officials. | GAO-15-730

^aDOE officials told us that DOE shared the costs of this contract with the Nuclear Regulatory Commission, which contributed \$6,740,000 during this time frame.

Transaction Details The Nuclear Materials Management and Safeguards System (NMMSS) is the U.S. government's official database for tracking nuclear material inventories and shipments by government and commercial nuclear facilities within, as well as to and from, the United States. NMMSS is jointly funded by DOE and the NRC and is operated under a DOE/National Nuclear Security Administration contract. According to DOE officials, in 1995, the contract for operation of the NMMSS database was transferred from a DOE management and operating contractor to NAC International Inc. (NAC). In August 2004, NAC notified DOE and NRC that it was to be acquired by USEC. USEC completed its acquisition of NAC in November 2004, becoming a wholly owned subsidiary of USEC.²² Based on this change in ownership, NRC evaluated whether use of NAC to operate the NMMSS gave rise to an organizational conflict of interest.²³ The NRC concluded that a conflict of interest did exist and determined that mitigation of this conflict would be necessary in order for NAC to continue its role as NMMSS operator. According to DOE officials, NRC subsequently approved administrative measures to be put in place to mitigate this conflict, and based on the acceptance and imposition of these measures. NRC determined that the conflict of interest was

²²USEC eventually sold NAC in March 2013 to a subsidiary of Hitachi Zosen Corporation. By this time, NAC was no longer managing NMMSS.

²³Because of its uranium enrichment operations, USEC was one of the most significant entities reporting information to NMMSS. According to an NRC document, because, as the parent company of NAC, USEC assumed the dual roles of both reporting and processing information in NMMSS, NRC determined that its use of NAC to operate the NMMSS system appeared to give rise to an organizational conflict of interest.

Appendix II: Information from Department of Energy on Its Transactions Involving USEC Inc. or Centrus Energy Corp. since 1998

adequately addressed and allowed NAC to continue to operate NMMSS. DOE officials told us that, in September 2005, DOE exercised an option capped at \$25 million to extend the performance period of the NAC contract for an additional 36 months covering the period from October 1, 2005, through September 30, 2008. In 2008, DOE informed NAC that it would not execute any further options for it to continue in its role as NMMSS contractor and make the operating contract a small business set aside. The contract with NAC for management of NMMSS ended on September 30, 2008.

18. Depleted Uranium Tails Liability Acceptance, 2010

Table 19: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified Costs and Benefits for Depleted Uranium Tails Liability Acceptance

		DOE-identified benefits	
Transaction category	DOE-identified costs	Monetary benefits	Nonmonetary benefits
National security	\$45 million	None identified	Supported the development of the American Centrifuge technology as a long-term source of unobligated low- enriched uranium

Sources: GAO analysis of DOE documents and interviews with DOE officials. | GAO-15-730

Transaction Details In March 2010, DOE and USEC signed a cooperative agreement valued at \$90 million to share equally the costs of the continued development and demonstration of specific aspects of the American Centrifuge technology from January 1, 2010, to December 31, 2010. Under this agreement, DOE and USEC agreed to jointly fund the manufacture of American Centrifuge machines for use in USEC's lead cascade. To execute this transaction, DOE agreed to accept title to up to 19,700,000 kilograms of depleted uranium tails from USEC along with the responsibility for their disposal, which allowed USEC to release \$45 million in funds that had been committed to the future disposal of these tails.

19. Permit for USEC Subsidiaries Access to Restricted Data, 2011– Present

Table 20: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified Costs and Benefits for Permit for USEC Subsidiaries Access to Restricted Data

		DOE	-identified benefits	
Transaction category	DOE-identified costs	Monetary benefits	Nonmonetary benefits	
Other	\$0	Unknown ^a	None identified	
Sources: GAO analysis of DOE documents a	nd interviews with DOE officials. GAO-15-73	30		
	^a Permittees mus restricted data. H access permits, included in USE	It agree to pay \$25,000 for a two-year However, DOE officials told us that th as the amount was included in USEC C's rent payments were not broken d	r access permit authorizing access to certain ey do not know how much USEC paid for the J's ongoing rent payments, and the costs own.	
Transaction Details	USEC paid and the perr regulations, access to ce paid to DOE amount was included in I	a fee for five of its subsidia mit had to be renewed ever permittees must agree to p ertain restricted data; howe are unknown because, ac included in USEC's ongoin USEC's rent payments wer	ries to access DOE restricted data, ry 2 years. According to DOE bay \$25,000 to DOE to authorize ver, the actual costs that USEC cording to DOE officials, the ng rent payments, and the costs re not broken down.	

20. Separative Work Unit Procurement, 2012

Table 21: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified Costs and Benefits for Separative Work Unit Procurement

			DOE-identified benefits
Transaction category	DOE-identified costs	Monetary benefits	Nonmonetary benefits
National security	\$43.7 million	\$44.4 million	Obtained unobligated low-enriched uranium (LEU) for 18 months of tritium production ^a
Sources: GAO analysis of DOE docume	nts and interviews with DOE officials. GAO-	-15-730	
	Note: Separa given amour	ative Work Unit is the industry stant of natural uranium into LEU.	andard for the measure of effort needed to transform a
	^a DOE later re 2012 Resear	eturned this unobligated LEU to t rch, Development and Demonstr	JSEC as part of one of its uranium transfers under its ation Cooperative Agreement with USEC.
Transaction Deta	ils In March to DOE of Americar \$150 mill developm not provid with USE low-assa USEC. T encumbe satisfy NI disposal. According assuming unit (SWI measure into LEU) natural un (equivale	2012, USEC's financial officials, USEC was strug of Centrifuge technology. ion from existing funds i ment of the American Ce de this authority. Subsect C in March 2012, under y tails, along with the re his enabled USEC to free ered funds that were bein RC's financial assurance g to DOE officials, in orce g USEC's liability, DOE in U) services from USEC of effort needed to trans). To facilitate receipt of ranium as uranium hexa ant to 409 MTU of natura	condition was weakening and, according ggling to support the development of the DOE requested authority to transfer in fiscal year 2012 to support USEC's entrifuge technology, but Congress did quently, DOE entered into a transaction which it accepted title to 13,073 MTU of sponsibility for their disposal, from ee up \$44 million in previously ng used as collateral for surety bonds to e requirements for the tails' future der to receive an asset in return for received \$44.4 million in separative work (SWU is the industry standard for the sform a given amount of natural uranium this SWU, DOE provided 409 MTU afluoride for 48 MTU of unobligated LEU al uranium plus SWU). ²⁴

²⁴See GAO-14-291 for additional details about this transaction.

21. Depleted Uranium Enrichment Project, 2012–2013²⁵

Table 22: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified Costs and Benefits for the Depleted Uranium Enrichment Project

			DOE-identified benefits
Transaction category	DOE-identified costs	Monetary benefits	Nonmonetary benefits
National security	\$0 ^a	\$759 million ^b	 Assured source of unobligated low-enriched uranium (LEU) for up to 15 years of tritium production^c
			 Kept the Paducah Gaseous Diffusion Plant (GDP) open for an additional year and delayed DOE's cleanup obligations
Sources: GAO analysis of DOE docu	ments and interviews with DOE officia	ls. GAO-15-730	
	^a ln M transa of En Cond	ay 2014, we found that, altho action had no value, they cou ergy: Enhanced Transparent uct Future Uranium Transac	bugh DOE determined that tails they transferred as part of this uld have been valued at up to \$300 million. See GAO, <i>Department</i> <i>cy Could Clarify Costs, Market Impact, Risk, and Legal Authority to</i> <i>tions</i> , GAO-14-291 (Washington, D.C.: May 9, 2014).
	^b DOE tails t	identified this amount in cos o obtain LEU and delaying th	t savings primarily from avoiding the costs of an alternative to using turnover of the Paducah GDP facility.
	^c LEU an "ol be us	is considered unobligated w bligation" from a foreign cour ed for peaceful purposes.	hen neither the uranium nor the technology used to enrich it carries htry regarding its use, such as a requirement that the material only
Transaction Details In Mar tritium Padua Energ no ma USEC DOE's contra agree Tenne a long in its r tritium contra		lay 2012, DOE took s im production in antio ucah GDP. The trans rgy Northwest, and the nonetary payments of EC. The four parties of E's transfer of deplete tracted with USEC to be d to sell the majorithe nessee Valley Author ing-term contract. Ter is nuclear reactors for im, which it will provide tract. Ultimately, DOE	steps to secure a supply of unobligated LEU for cipation of USEC's pending closure of the saction involved four parties—DOE, USEC, he Tennessee Valley Authority—but there were or uranium transfers directly between DOE and engaged in a series of transfers, beginning with ed uranium tails to Energy Northwest, which then re-enrich the tails. Ultimately, Energy Northwest by of the LEU that USEC enriched to the rity in installments from 2015 through 2022 under nessee Valley Authority is then to use the LEU energy production and for the production of de to DOE under a separate, pre-existing E expects to benefit from this transaction by

²⁵The Depleted Uranium Enrichment Project involves four main parties, including DOE and USEC. DOE transferred depleted uranium tails to a third party in 2012, and USEC completed re-enrichment of the tails in 2013. See GAO-14-291 for additional details about this transaction.

ensuring a source of unobligated LEU for Tennessee Valley Authority use for up to a 15-year supply of tritium production from a single reactor.

22. Research, Development, and Demonstration Cooperative Agreement, 2012–2014

Table 23: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified Costs and Benefits for the Research, Development and Demonstration Cooperative Agreement

		DOE-identified benefits	
Transaction category	DOE-identified costs	Monetary benefits	Nonmonetary benefits
National security	\$280 million	None identified	Supported the development of the American Centrifuge technology as a long-term source of unobligated low-enriched uranium

Sources: GAO analysis of DOE documents and interviews with DOE officials. | GAO-15-730

Transaction Details On June 12, 2012, DOE and USEC signed a cooperative agreement to financially support a research, development, and demonstration program for American Centrifuge technology in furtherance of national security purposes and potential future commercialization. The cooperative agreement required the completion of a number of milestones and performance indicators. According to Centrus officials, USEC achieved all of the milestones and performance indicators on time and under budget. The terms of the cooperative agreement—which covered work performed from June 1, 2012, through April 30, 2014—committed DOE to providing up to \$280 million, or 80 percent, of the costs for the program, with USEC committing to fund the remaining 20 percent. Initially the agreement was through December 31, 2013; however, the agreement was extended until April 2014. DOE ultimately provided USEC \$280 million in support of the agreement, which included \$148 million in transfers of appropriated funds and \$132 million in credited value associated with two uranium transfers.²⁶

²⁶See GAO-14-291 for additional details on the two uranium transfers.

23. Agreement between UT-Battelle and USEC, 2014–2015

Table 24: Summary of Department of Energy (DOE)-Identified Costs and Benefits for Agreement between UT-Battelle and USEC

			DOE-identified benefits
Transaction category	DOE-identified costs	Monetary benefits	Nonmonetary benefits
National security	\$64.5 million ^a	None identified	Maintaining operability of the American Centrifuge and associated technology while DOE assesses options for meeting DOE's needs for low-enriched uranium
Sources: GAO analysis of DOE docum	nents and interviews with DOE officials.	GAO-15-730	
	^a The co \$64,453	ntract is incrementally fund 3,224. According to DOE of	ed. As of January 23, 2015, UT-Battelle/DOE had funded a total of ficials, the total value of the contract is \$117,037,597.
Transaction Details In the Energ operal Ridge "Dome agree and, w further officia report activiti million		wake of USEC's ba gy tasked its Oak Rid ability of the America e National Laborator estic Uranium Enric ement ²⁷ —with USEC where possible, adva trance of DOE's nationals, this agreement p ts related to the case ties. As of January 2 n in funding. These fact with DOE.	ankruptcy filing in April 2014, the Secretary of dge National Laboratory with maintaining the in Centrifuge technology. As operator of Oak y, UT-Battelle signed an agreement—called the hment – Centrifuge Information and Analysis" C on May 1, 2014, to maintain the capability of ance the American Centrifuge technology in ional security objectives. According to Oak Ridge provides for the collection of data and provides cade operations and research and development 23, 2015, UT-Battelle had provided USEC \$64.5 costs are funded by DOE through UT-Battelle's

²⁷USEC documents refer to this agreement as the "American Centrifuge Technology Demonstration and Operations agreement."

Appendix III: Department of Energy Transactions Involving USEC Inc. or Centrus Energy Corp. by Category

Category	Transactions date and name
Establishment of USEC Inc. (USEC)	 1998 – 2003: Transfer of highly enriched uranium (HEU)
	Beginning in 1998: Worker transition services
	 1998 – 2004: Depleted Uranium Tails Liability Acceptance
National security	 2000 – 2014: Cooperative Research and Development Agreement
	2010: Depleted Uranium Tails Liability Acceptance
	2012: Separative work unit procurement
	2012 – 2013: Depleted Uranium Enrichment Project
	 2012 – 2014: Research, Development, and Demonstration Cooperative Agreement
	 2014 – 2015: Agreement between UT-Battelle and USEC
Facilities management	 1993 – 2014: Lease of the Portsmouth and Paducah Gaseous Diffusion Plants (GDP)
	 Beginning in 1999: atomic vapor laser isotope separation termination
	2001 – 2011: Portsmouth GDP closure
	 2002 – 2016: Lease for centrifuge production and testing facilities
	 2004 – 2019: Lease for American Centrifuge lead cascade facilities
Nuclear materials management and security	Beginning in 1999: HEU Safeguards and Security Services
	 Beginning in 1999: Storage of uranium enriched to 10% or greater assay
	 2005 – 2008: Nuclear Materials Management and Safeguards System Management Contract
Issues from prior	1998: Amendment to a previous HEU transfer
transactions	 2002 – 2009: Uranium decontamination and replacement
	 2003: HEU transfer to replace previously transferred HEU
Other	1999 – Present: Permit for USEC access to restricted data
	2005 – 2006: Depleted Uranium Tails Pilot Project
	2011 – Present: Permit for USEC subsidiaries access to restricted data

Source: GAO analysis of DOE documents and interviews with DOE officials. | GAO-15-730

Appendix IV: Example of Standard Question Set Provided to Department of Energy Officials on Each Transaction

DOF/NNSA Point(s) Of Contact				
Relate	documents:			
1.	Please provide copies of the following documents:			
	[]			
2.	Please provide a copy of any additional contract, agreement, DOE/NRC Form 741, or other document(s) that supports the information on the date, purpose, costs, and benefits listed below.			
Overvi	ew:			
	Please confirm that the transaction was agreed upon on <u>Date</u> :			
	Correct.			
	Incorrect. Please provide an alternate date, if applicable.			
3.	Date transaction was completed (e.g. date contract terms ended):			
4.	Please describe the overall purpose of this transaction.			
Costs	DOE			
5.	What were the overall costs to DOE for this transaction?			
6.	What types of costs, if any, did DOE incur from this transaction? (<i>Check all that apply</i>)			
	Provided monetary payment ^a to USEC.			
	Total amount of payment:			
	Date payment provided:			
	Type(s) of uranium provided:			
	Type(s) of dramium provided.			
	Market value of uranium			
	Amount of uranium in MTU ^b :			
	Accepted liability for depleted uranium from USEC.			
	Estimated dollar value of liability:			
	Date(s) uranium provided:			
	Amount in MTU:			
	Other costs.			
	Please explain.			
7.	If DOE did not incur any costs associated with this set of transactions, why not?			
Benefi	is to DOE			
8.	What were the overall financial benefits of this transition to DOE?			
9.	What were the overall non-financial benefits of this transaction to DOE?			
10	What types of benefits, if any, did DOE receive from this transaction? (<i>Check all that apply</i>)			
	Received monetary payment from USEC.			
	Total amount of payment:			
	Date payment provided:			
	L received uranium (natural or enriched) from USEC.			
	i ype(s) or uranium provided:			
	Date(s) utanium provideu. Market value of uranium:			

DOE/NNSA Po	int(s) Of Contact:	
	Amount of uranium in MTU ^b :	
	□ Received services [®] from USEC.	
	Please summarize services received:	
	Flease explain.	
11. II DOL		
^b MTLL = metric ton	It includes any amount of money transferred to USEC using appropriated or transferred funding.	
^c Services could ind	clude enrichment, clean-up, maintenance, among other things.	

Source: GAO. | GAO-15-730

Appendix V: GAO Contact and Staff Acknowledgments

GAO Contact	David C. Trimble, (202) 512-3841 or trimbled@gao.gov
Staff Acknowledgments	In addition to the individual named above, Allison B. Bawden (Assistant Director), Eric Bachhuber, Antoinette Capaccio, Amanda K. Kolling, and Karen Villafana made key contributions to this report. Also contributing to this report were Doreen Eng, Ellen Fried, Risto Laboski, Mehrzad Nadji, Alison O'Neill, Dan C. Royer, and Rebecca Shea.

GAO's Mission	The Government Accountability Office, the audit, evaluation, and investigative arm of Congress, exists to support Congress in meeting its constitutional responsibilities and to help improve the performance and accountability of the federal government for the American people. GAO examines the use of public funds; evaluates federal programs and policies; and provides analyses, recommendations, and other assistance to help Congress make informed oversight, policy, and funding decisions. GAO's commitment to good government is reflected in its core values of accountability, integrity, and reliability.
Obtaining Copies of GAO Reports and Testimony	The fastest and easiest way to obtain copies of GAO documents at no cost is through GAO's website (http://www.gao.gov). Each weekday afternoon, GAO posts on its website newly released reports, testimony, and correspondence. To have GAO e-mail you a list of newly posted products, go to http://www.gao.gov and select "E-mail Updates."
Order by Phone	The price of each GAO publication reflects GAO's actual cost of production and distribution and depends on the number of pages in the publication and whether the publication is printed in color or black and white. Pricing and ordering information is posted on GAO's website, http://www.gao.gov/ordering.htm.
	Place orders by calling (202) 512-6000, toll free (866) 801-7077, or TDD (202) 512-2537.
	Orders may be paid for using American Express, Discover Card, MasterCard, Visa, check, or money order. Call for additional information.
Connect with GAO	Connect with GAO on Facebook, Flickr, Twitter, and YouTube. Subscribe to our RSS Feeds or E-mail Updates. Listen to our Podcasts and read The Watchblog. Visit GAO on the web at www.gao.gov.
To Report Fraud.	Contact:
Waste, and Abuse in Federal Programs	Website: http://www.gao.gov/fraudnet/fraudnet.htm E-mail: fraudnet@gao.gov Automated answering system: (800) 424-5454 or (202) 512-7470
Congressional Relations	Katherine Siggerud, Managing Director, siggerudk@gao.gov, (202) 512- 4400, U.S. Government Accountability Office, 441 G Street NW, Room 7125, Washington, DC 20548
Public Affairs	Chuck Young, Managing Director, youngc1@gao.gov, (202) 512-4800 U.S. Government Accountability Office, 441 G Street NW, Room 7149 Washington, DC 20548

